# **REVISED BYLAWS**

# **OF THE**

# FARMERS MARKET OF BLUFFTON, INC.

A South Carolina Non Profit Corporation

Adopted: April 2, 2009 Revised: December 12, 2011

# FARMERS MARKET OF BLUFFTON, INC. BYLAWS TABLE OF CONTENTS

Mission Stateme	ent	4
Article I:	Authority 1.1 – Name of Corporation 1.2 – Registered Office and Agent 1.3 – Offices 1.4 – Fiscal Year	4 4 4 4
Article II:	Purpose 2.1 – Purpose & Objectives 2.2 – Acceptance of Funds 2.3 – Resource Dedication	4 5 5
Article III:	Powers of Market 3.1 – Powers 3.2 – Limitations/Conditions	5 6
Article IV:	Corporate Activities 4.1 – Nonpartisan Activities	6 6
Article V:	Board of Directors 5.1 – Composition of Board 5.2 – Classes 5.3 – Term 5.4 – Qualification of Directors 5.5 – Election 5.6 – Committees 5.7 – Directors Duties 5.8 – Discipline & Removal 5.9 – Resignation of Director 5.10 – Vacancies 5.11 – Standard of Conduct for Directors 5.12 – Compensation	6 6 7 7 7 7 7 7 8 8 8
Article VI:	Meetings of the Board 6.1 – Place of Meeting 6.2 – Meetings 6.3 – Notice of Meetings 6.4 – Waiver of Notice 6.5 – Action Without Meeting 6.6 – Quorum 6.7 – Proxy Voting 6.8 – Mail or Facsimile Vote 6.9 – Electronic Media/Communications 6.10 – Minutes 6.11 – Rules of Order	8 8 8 9 9 10 10 10 10

Article VII: Powers and Duties of the Board of Directors

	7.1 – Specific Powers and Duties	10 10
Article VIII:	Officers of the Market	
	8.1 – Officers	11
	8.2 – Election and Term of Office	11
	8.3 – Responsibility of Officers	11
	8.4 – Standard of Conduct for Officers	12
	8.5 – Resignation and Removal of Officers	12
	8.6 – Vacancies	12
Article IX:	Other Staff	12
Article X:	Committees	
	10.1 – Committees, Councils, Task Forces and Advisory Groups	13
	10.2 – Policies and Procedures	13
Article XI:	Manner of Acting	13
Afficie AI.	Manner of Acting	13
Article XII:	Distributions and Disbursements	
	12.1 – Distributions and Disbursements	13
	12.2 – Manner of Acting	13
Article XIII:	Conflicting Interest Transactions	13
Article XIV:	Indemnification of Board of Directors, Officers, Employees & Agents	13
Article XV:	Books and Records, Contracts, Checks and Deposits	
	15.1 – Books and Records	13
	15.2 – Contracts	14
	15.3 – Checks, Notes, Drafts, Etc	14
	15.4 – Deposits	14
Article XVI:	Miscellaneous	
Atticle AVI.		14
	16.1 – Construction	14
	16.2 – Severability	14
	16.4 – Relationship to Articles of Incorporation	14
	16.5 – Reference to Internal Revenue Code	14
Article XVII:	Tax Exempt Status	1.4
	17.1 – Tax Exempt Status	14
	17.2 – Dissolution	14
	17.3 – Liquidation on Dissolution	14
Article XVIII:	Amendments	1/1

# BYLAWS OF FARMER'S MARKET OF BLUFFTON, INC. A South Carolina Non Profit Corporation

MISSION STATEMENT: Our mission at Farmer's Market of Bluffton, Inc. is to undertake educational and charitable activities by promoting the health benefits of and providing access to fresh, local produce to the general populace through an outlet for local agricultural providers to sell their products directly to customers, providing assistance to vendors to become certified for the Farmer's Market Nutrition Program and to enroll in the food stamp program, providing access to fresh, locally grown produce to the low income community, providing agricultural education to the general community, providing a venue for local farmers and growers to engage in mutual education on best agricultural practices and improving the general business climate of Bluffton, South Carolina thereby averting community deterioration. In addition, we work to assist farmers and residents by providing information and connecting them to a variety of resources.

#### ARTICLE I

# Authority

- 1.1 Name of Corporation. The name of the nonprofit corporation shall be Farmer's Market of Bluffton, Inc. (the "Market")
- 1.2 <u>Registered Office and Registered Agent</u>. The registered office of the Market shall be located at such place in the State of South Carolina as may be fixed from time to time by the Board of Directors upon filing of such notices as may be required by law. The registered agent shall have a business office identical with such registered office.
- 1.3 Other Offices. The Board of Directors may at any time in the future establish such other satellite offices (branch or subordinate) at any place or places where the Market is qualified to do business.
- 1.4 <u>Fiscal Year.</u> The Market's fiscal year shall be the calendar year beginning January 1 and ending December 31.

#### **ARTICLE II**

#### **Purpose**

- 2.1 <u>Purpose & Objectives.</u> The purpose and objectives for which this Market is organized are within the meaning of Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986. In the furtherance of said purpose and objectives:
  - 2.1.1 The Market shall further its purpose by:
    - (i) increasing the demand for fresh, local produce and promoting access to fresh, local produce to the general populace by providing an outlet for local agricultural producers to sell their products directly to customers;
    - (ii) assisting vendors to become certified for the WIC Farmer's Market Nutrition Program and the Seniors Farmer's Market Nutrition Program and enroll in the food stamp program in order to provide access to fresh, locally grown produce to the low income community of the Bluffton area;

- (iii) providing agricultural education to the general populace by distributing information on the benefits of fresh, locally grown produce and providing instruction on the healthy preparation of such produce;
- (iv) improving the general business climate of Bluffton, South Carolina, thereby averting community deterioration, by providing an event to draw individuals and business to the downtown area.
- (v) assisting farmers and residents by providing information and connecting them to a variety of resources.
- 2.1.2 the Market is specifically authorized to receive and hold by gift, bequest, devise, purchase, lease, or other transfer any real or personal property and to manage, invest, and reinvest the same and to use and dispose of the any such funds, property, or assets for such purposes as above stated;
- 2.1.3 to hold funds and property of all kinds subject only to such limitations as are imposed by law; and to exercise any and all powers which a nonprofit corporation organized under the laws of the State of South Carolina may exercise for the foregoing purposes.
- 2.1.4 The Market shall perform all things reasonably necessary for the accomplishment of the above purposes which are not in conflict with the laws of the United States or the State of South Carolina.

#### 2.2 Acceptance of Funds.

- 2.2.1 The Market may accept funds or assets which are not restricted in purpose or effect from individuals, private organizations, or public organizations; further, the Market shall not accept any funds from any governmental source whatsoever that may hinder the purpose above stated or disqualify the Market in any way from its tax exempt status under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 or any law of like tenor and effect, the laws of the United States, or the laws of the State of South Carolina; nor shall the Market accept donations of any assets of a restricted nature from any denominational affiliation.
- 2.2.2 The Market may accept funds, real or personal property, any negotiable instruments, and any other assets by way of donations, contributions, gifts and grants (including those from other corporations) and also including such deferred and conditional gifts, the acceptance of which shall be determined by the Board of Directors to be in the best interests of the Market.
- 2.3 Resource Dedication. No part of any earnings or resources of the Market shall inure to the benefit of any director or officer of the Market, except that reasonable compensation may be paid for services rendered to or for the Market to effect one of its purposes. No director or officer of the Market or any private individual shall be entitled to share in the distribution of any of the Market assets on dissolution of the Market. Notwithstanding any other provision of the articles of incorporation or these bylaws, the Market shall not conduct, or carry on, any activities not permitted to be conducted or carried on by an organization exempt under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code and its regulations as they now exist, or as they may hereafter be amended, or by an organization, contributions to which are deductible under Section 170(c)(2). Upon the dissolution of the Market or the termination of its affairs, the assets of the Market or the termination of its affairs, the assets of the Market or the articles of incorporation.

### **ARTICLE III**

### **Powers of Market**

- 3.1. <u>Powers</u>. Subject to the foregoing statement of purposes, the Market shall have the following powers:
  - 3.1.1 To accept, acquire, receive, take, and hold by bequest, devise, grant gift, purchase, exchange, lease, transfer, judicial order or decree, or otherwise, for any of its objects and purposes, any property, both real and personal, of whatever kind, nature, or description and wherever situated;
  - 3.1.2 To seal, exchange, convey, mortgage, lease, transfer, or otherwise dispose of any such property, both real and personal, as the objects and purposes of the Market may require, subject to such limitations as be prescribed by law;
  - 3.1.3 To borrow money and, from time to time, to make, accept, endorse, execute, and issue bonds, debentures, promissory notes, bills of exchange, and other obligations of the Market for monies borrowed,

or in payment for property acquired, or for any of the other purposes of the Market, and to secure the payment of any such obligations by mortgage, pledge, deed, indenture, agreement, or other instrument of trust, or by other lien upon assignment of or agreement in regard to all or any port of the property, rights, or privileges of the Market of the Market wherever situated, whether now owned or hereafter to be acquired;

- 3.1.4 To invest and reinvest its funds in such stock, commons or preferred, bonds, debentures, mortgages, or in such other securities and property as the Board of Directors shall deem advisable, subject to the limitations and conditions contained in any bequest, devise, grant, or gift, provided such limitations and conditions are not in conflict with the provisions of Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code and its regulations as they now exist, or as they may hereafter be amended;
- 3.2 <u>Limitations and Conditions.</u> In general, and subject to such limitations and conditions as are, or may be, prescribed by law, to exercise such other powers which now are, or hereafter may be, conferred by law upon a corporation organized for the purpose herein above set forth, or necessary or incidental to the powers so conferred, or conductive to the attainment of the purposes of the Market, subject to the further limitation and condition that, notwithstanding any other provision of the articles or these bylaws, only such powers shall be exercised as are in furtherance of the tax-exempt purposes of the Market and as may be exercised by an organization exempt under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code and its regulations as they now exist, or as they may hereafter be amended, and by an organization to which contributions are deductible under Section 170(c)(2) of such code and regulations as they now exist, or as they may hereafter be amended.

#### ARTICLE IV

### **Corporate Activities**

- 4.1 <u>Nonpartisan Activities.</u> This Market has been formed under the South Carolina Nonprofit Corporation law for the purposes described above, and it shall be nonprofit and nonpartisan. No part of the activities of the Market shall consist of the publication or dissemination of materials with the purpose of attempting to influence legislation, and the Market shall not participate or intervene in any political campaign on behalf of any candidate for public office or for or against any cause of measure being submitted to the people for a vote. The Market shall not, except in an insubstantial degree, engage in any activities or exercise any powers that are not in furtherance of the purposes described above.
- 4.2 <u>Means.</u> The Market shall accomplish its objectives through working with other non-profit groups having similar purposes in order to accomplish the Market's objectives; accepting, by donation, gift, devise, or otherwise, private contributions of money or other property from individuals, corporations, or other groups; pursuing grants from local, state or federal agencies, or any other means necessary and advisable to accomplish the purposes described above.

## ARTICLE V

#### **Board of Directors**

- 5.1 <u>Composition of Board</u>. The management of all the affairs, property, and interests of the Market shall be vested in a Board of Directors which shall be composed of no less than three (3) and no more than fifteen (15), including the initial board. The number of directors may at any time be increased or decreased by amendment of these Bylaws, but no decrease shall have the effect of reducing the required number of directors to less than three (3) directors.
- 5.2 <u>Classes.</u> The Board of Directors elected at the initial meeting of the Board shall be divided into three classes (Class A, Class B and Class C) each consisting, as nearly as possible, of one-third (1/3) of the total number of directors elected at that time. The term of office of Class A directors shall expire at the third annual meeting following the annual meeting at which they are elected. The term of office of the Class B directors shall expire at the next annual meeting thereafter. The term of the Class C directors shall expire at the fifth annual meeting following the annual meeting at which they are elected. At each annual meeting after the initial annual meeting, directors shall be elected for a term of three (3) years to succeed the directors whose terms expire at such meetings.
- 5.3 <u>Term.</u> Except for the Class B and Class C directors forming the initial Board, Directors serve three year terms and may be elected for a second three-year term. Each Director serves until the close of the Annual Meeting of

the Board, at which time replacements are elected. No person may serve more than two consecutive full three-year terms as a Director, except that if an individual is also serving as an officer of the Market, his or her term as an officer will not be taken into account for purposes of the two consecutive full three-year term limitation.

- 5.4 Qualification of Directors. All members of the board of directors shall be natural persons.
- 5.5 <u>Election.</u> The Directors shall be elected by a majority vote of a quorum of the Board of Directors.

Each Director shall hold office until the end of his or her term and until a successor shall have been elected and qualified.

5.6 <u>Committees.</u> The Chairman of the Board shall name such committees deemed necessary for the expeditious transaction of the affairs of the Market; such committees may be comprised of or include persons not members of the Board or of the Market; however, the chairman of the committee must be a member of the Board of Directors.

### 5.7 <u>Directors Duties.</u>

- 5.7.1 The Board of Directors shall be responsible for the business affairs of the Market and shall fulfill all other responsibilities outlined in these bylaws or the articles of incorporation. It shall have the authority to perform all acts and transact all business for, or on behalf of, the Market, and to manage the property, affairs, work and activities of the organization. Such authority maybe delegated to such Officers or other qualified individuals as the Board determines.
- 5.7.2 All meetings of the Board of Directors may be conducted according to any medium of communication where all directors may simultaneously speak and be heard by all other directors as stated in S.C. Code Ann. §33-31-820.
- 5.8 <u>Discipline & Removal.</u> A director can be disciplined or removed as follows:
  - 5.8.1 Two-thirds Vote. A director may be removed without cause by the vote of two-thirds (2/3) of the directors then in office, excluding the director proposed to be removed.
  - 5.8.2 Failure to Attend Meetings of the Board. A director may be removed by the vote of two thirds (2/3) of the directors then in office, excluding the director proposed to be removed, for failing to attend two-thirds (2/3) of the total of any regular or special meetings held within any twelve (12) month period.
  - 5.8.3 Violation of Bylaws. A director shall be removed for violating any of the provisions of the Market's by-laws, as set forth herein, or the articles of incorporation.
  - 5.8.4 Fraudulent or Dishonest Conduct. A director shall be removed for engaging in fraudulent or dishonest conduct, or gross abuse of authority or discretion, with respect to the Market.
  - 5.8.5 Director Conflict of Interest. A director may be removed by majority vote of the other directors for a violation of the Market's Conflicts of Interest Policy
  - 5.8.6 Violation of Director's Duties. A director shall be removed by majority vote of the other directors for violating a duty set forth in Sections 33-31-830 through 33-31-833 of the South Carolina Nonprofit Corporations Act of 1994, as amended.
  - 5.8.7 Removal by Judicial Proceeding. A director may be removed pursuant to a judicial proceeding as provided under Section 33-31-810 of the South Carolina Nonprofit Corporations Act of 1994, as amended.

# 5.9 <u>Resignation of Director.</u>

- 5.9.1 A director may resign at any time by delivering written notice to the board of directors, its presiding officer, or to the president or secretary.
- 5.9.2 A resignation is effective when the notice is effective unless the notice specifies a later effective date. If a resignation is made effective at a later date, the board may fill the pending vacancy before the effective date if the board provides that the successor does not take office until the effective date.
- 5.10 <u>Vacancies</u>. Any vacancy on the board of directors may be filled by an affirmative vote of a majority of all the directors remaining in office; provided, however, if a vacancy on the board of directors results in fewer than three (3) remaining directors, the board of directors shall fill such vacancy by an affirmative vote of a majority of the remaining directors.
- 5.11 <u>Standard of Conduct for Directors.</u>

- 5.11.1 General Standards. A director shall discharge his duties as a director, including his duties as a member of a committee in good faith; with the care an ordinarily prudent person in a like position would exercise under similar circumstances; and in a manner the director reasonable believes to be in the best interests of the Market.
- 5.11.2 Reliance on Third Party Information. In discharging his or her duties, a director is entitled to rely on information, opinions, reports, or statements, including financial statements and other financial data, if prepared or presented by:
  - (i) one or more officers or employees of the Market who the director reasonably believes is reliable and competent in the matters presented;
  - (ii) legal counsel, public accountants, or other persons as to matters the director reasonably believes are within the person's professional or expert competence; or
  - (iii) a committee of the board of which the director is not a member, as to matters within its jurisdiction, if the director reasonably believes the committee merits confidence.
- 5.11.3 Limitation of Third Party Reliance. A director is not acting in good faith if the director has knowledge concerning the matter in question that make reliance otherwise permitted by Article 5.11.2 unwarranted.
- 5.11.4 No Trustee Relationship. A director shall not be deemed a trustee with respect to the Market or with respect to any property held or administered by the Market, including, without limit, property that may be subject to restrictions imposed by the donor or transferor of the property.
- 5.12 <u>Compensation</u>. Directors shall not receive any compensation from the Market for their services, but by resolution of the Board of Directors may be reimbursed for the expense of attending meetings of the Board or other activities related to the affairs of the Market.

#### ARTICLE VI

# **Meetings of Board**

- 6.1 <u>Place of Meeting</u>. Meetings of the Board of Directors may be held at any place within or outside the State of South Carolina, as set forth in the notice thereof or in the event of a meeting held pursuant to a waiver of notice, as may be set forth in the waiver, or if no place is so specified, at the principal office of the Market.
- 6.2 Meetings.
  - 6.2.1 Annual Meeting. At a mutually convenient time, the Board of Directors will host an Annual Meeting for such purposes as organization and the transaction of any other business as may come before the Board. In addition to conducting such other business as may be appropriate, the Board will meet to review the past year's accomplishments, assess plans for the future and receive comments.
  - 6.2.1 Regular Meetings. Regular meetings of the board may be held from time to time between annual meetings at such times and at such places as shall be fixed by the board of directors.
  - 6.2.2 Special Meetings. Special meetings of the board of directors for any purpose may be called at any time by the president or any two Directors in office at that time with proper notification of such call to the Secretary or other corporate officer in charge of issuing notice to all Directors. Notice for special meetings shall include a description of the matter for which the meeting is called.
- 6.3 <u>Notice of Meetings</u>. Unless waived in accordance with Section 6.4, notice for all meetings of the board shall be properly given in accordance with the following:
  - 6.3.1 Method and Timing of Notice. Written notice of the time and place of any meeting must be given by the Secretary either personally, by telephone, by mail, by telegram, or by other electronic communication in accordance with the following:
    - (i) Annual Meeting. Not less than ten (10) days prior to such meeting, if notice is be first class mail, or thirty (30) days prior to such meeting if notice is mailed other than be first class, nor more than fifty (50) days prior to such meeting.

- (ii) Regular Meetings. Not less than two (2) days or more than thirty (30) days prior to such meeting.
- (iii) Special Meetings. Not less than twenty-four (24) hours prior to such meeting.
- 6.3.2 Effectiveness of Notice. Written notice, if comprehensible, is effective at the earliest of the following:
  - (i) When received;
  - (ii) five (5) days after its deposit in the United States mail, if mailed correctly addressed and with first class postage affixed;
  - (iii) on the date shown on the return receipt, if sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, and the receipt is signed by or on the behalf of the addressee;
  - (iv) fifteen (15) days after its deposit in the United States mail, if mailed correctly addressed and with other than first class, registered, or certified postage affixed;
- 6.3.3 Adjournment of Meetings. If an annual, regular, or special meeting of members is adjourned to a different date, time or place, notice need not be given of the new date, time or place if the new date, time or place is announced at the meeting before adjournment. If the new date, time or place is not announced at the meeting before adjournment, notice of the new date, time and place of the meeting must be given in accordance with this Article 6.3.
- 6.3.4 Notice of Purpose of Meeting. When giving notice of an annual, regular or special meeting of the Board, the Association shall give notice of a matter a Board member intends to raise at the meeting if:
  - (i) requested in writing to do so by a person entitled to call a special meeting; and
  - (ii) the request is received by the Secretary or President of the Association at least ten (10) days before the Association gives notice of the meeting.
- 6.4 Waiver of Notice. Notice to a board member is waived by such member upon either of the following:
  - 6.4.1 Written Waiver by Member. A board member may waive any notice required by this Article 6.3 before or after the date and time stated in the notice. The waiver must be in writing, be signed by the board member entitled to the notice, and be delivered to the Board for inclusion in the minutes or filing with the Board's records.
  - 6.4.2 Attendance at Meeting. A member's attendance at a meeting:
    - (i) waives objection to lack of notice or defective notice of the meeting unless the member at the beginning of the meeting objects to holding the meeting or transacting business at the meeting;
    - (ii) waives objection to consideration of a particular matter at the meeting that is not within the purpose described in the meeting notice; unless the member objects to considering the matter when it is presented.
- 6.5 <u>Action Without Meeting.</u> Action required or permitted to be taken at a board of directors meeting may be taken without a meeting if the action is taken by all members of the board. The action must be evidenced by one of more written consents describing the action taken, signed by each director, and included in the minutes filed with the corporate records reflecting the action taken. Action taken under this Article 6.5 is effective when the last director signs the consent, unless the consent specifies a different effective date. A consent signed under this Article 6.5 has the effect of a meeting vote and may be described as such in any document.
- 6.6 Quorum. A quorum of the Board of Directors shall consist of not less than a majority of the board of directors duly appointed to the board.
- 6.7 <u>Proxy Voting</u>. When a member of the Board cannot attend a meeting, he or she may authorize another member of the Market Board to cast his/her ballot provided:
  - 6.7.1 The absent Board member has been informed of the issues to be considered, and
  - 6.7.2 a signed statement by the absent member is presented authorizing the designated person to cast his/her vote.

- 6.8 <u>Mail or Facsimile Vote</u>. When a situation arises that requires that action of the full Board between the scheduled meeting dates and a special meeting is not required, a mail and/or facsimile vote may be utilized. Such a vote must be ratified at the next regular meeting of the Board and designated in the minutes.
- 6.9 <u>Electronic Media / Communications.</u> When a situation arises that requires action of the full Board between the scheduled meeting dates and a special meeting is not required, a meeting held by conference call or other communication equipment may be utilized; provided, however, meetings held by call or other communications equipment must permit all persons participating in the meeting to communicate with each other.
- 6.10. <u>Minutes.</u> Minutes which accurately reflect the events of each meeting will be prepared by or under the direction of the secretary and placed in a permanent book which he/she will maintain.
- 6.11 <u>Rules of Order</u>. In the absence of any provisions in these bylaws to the contrary, all meetings of the Board of Directors shall be governed by the parliamentary rules and usages contained in the then current edition of Robert's Rules of Order.

# **ARTICLE VII**

# **Powers and Duties of the Board**

- 7.1 <u>Specific Powers and Duties.</u> Without prejudice to any general powers designated in these bylaws or the South Carolina Nonprofit Corporations Act of 1994, and subject to the same limitations the Board shall have the following specific powers and duties:
  - 7.1.1 Appointment of Agents. To appoint and at its discretion remove such officers or agents as it shall deem proper and to prescribe their duties.
  - 7.1.2 Business Transactions. To sue and be sued, complain and defend in its corporate name: to borrow money and give its notes or other obligations therefore; to pledge, encumber, or mortgage and property it may own; to sell, convey, or dispose of any property it may own; to receive and administer funds for religious purposes; to receive, take title to, hold, and use the proceeds and income of stocks, bonds, obligations, or other securities; to take and hold by bequest, devise, gift, purchase, or lease, either absolutely or in trust, any property, real personal, or mixed, without limitation as to amount or value; to reject any or all gifts, benefits, or devises which it deems not in the best interest of the objectives and purposes of the Market. No director or officer of the Market shall have any liability for debt or obligations of the Market, or for any act performed in good faith on behalf of the Market.
  - 7.1.3 Records. To maintain records of Board proceedings and of the activities of its officers and agents.
  - 7.1.4 Reports. To cause at the president's direction to be prepared annually in writing to be distributed at the annual meeting a report of the business and activities of the Market. The annual report shall express the financial condition of the Market. In addition, on a quarterly basis, the president shall prepare or have prepared a financial statement for the Market. The Board of Directors may cause audit or a review to be made of the financial affairs of the Market if such a review is deemed necessary by a unanimous board. The president will also prepare for presentation at the annual meeting a statement of both short and long term goals and plans for the Market during the next fiscal year.
- 7.2 <u>General Power and Duties</u>. In addition to the powers and authorities expressly conferred upon it in these Bylaws and the Articles of Incorporation, the Board of Directors may exercise all such powers of the Market and do all such lawful acts and things that are not otherwise prohibited by statute or by the Articles of Incorporation or by these Bylaws.

#### ARTICLE VIII

### Officers of the Market

8.1 Officers. The officers of the Market shall be a president, a secretary, and treasurer. The Market may also have vice-presidents; assistant secretaries, assistant treasurers, and such other officers as may be appointed by the president and approved by a two-thirds vote of the Board of Directors. Any number of offices may be held by the

same person, except that the same individual may not concurrently hold both the office of president and secretary or president and treasurer.

8.2 <u>Election and Term of Office</u>. The officers of the corporation shall be elected by a majority of the votes of the Board of Directors and shall serve for terms of one (1) year and until their successors have been elected and qualified, or until their earlier death, resignation, removal, retirement, or disqualification.

# 8.3 Responsibilities of Officers.

- 8.3.1 President. The President of the Market presides at all meetings of the Board of Directors. The President is also an ex officio member of all committees of the board of directors; appoints, and reappoints the coordinators and chairpersons of all committees; and recommends individuals directors to be hired in staff positions. The President has the responsibility for conducting the correspondence of the organization and, with concurrence of the Board, appointing or creating committees and similar advisory groups and councils. In addition, the president shall perform all duties incident to the office of the president and any such other duties as may be required by law, the articles of incorporation, or by these bylaws, or which may be approved from time to time by the board of directors. Notwithstanding any other provision of these bylaws, the articles of incorporation, or the South Carolina Nonprofit Corporations Act of 1994, the president's service may be terminated immediately by the affirmative vote of two-thirds of the board of directors.
- 8.3.2 Secretary. The secretary shall have responsibility for the corporate minute book. The secretary shall keep or cause to be kept, at the principal office or such other place as the board of directors may direct, a book of minutes of all meetings and actions of directors or committees of directors, with the time and place of holding, whether regular or special, and, if special, how authorized, the notice given, the names of those present as such meetings, and the proceedings of such meetings. The book shall also contain all such information required by South Carolina law to be kept by the Market in such book. The secretary shall give, or cause to be given, notice of all meetings of the Board of Directors. The secretary shall perform such other duties and have such other authority and powers as the Board of Directors may from time to time prescribe or the president may from time to time delegate.
- 8.3.3 Treasurer. The treasurer shall attend to the following:
  - (i) Accounting Records. The treasurer shall keep and maintain, or cause to be kept and maintained, adequate and correct books and records and accounts of the properties and business transactions of the Market, including accounts of its assets, liabilities, receipts, disbursements, gains, losses, capital, retained earnings, and other matters customarily included in financial statements. The books of accounts shall be open to inspection by any director at all reasonable times in accordance with the laws regarding such inspection.
  - (ii) Deposit and disbursement of money and valuables. The treasurer shall deposit all and other valuables in the name and to the credit of the Market with such depositories as may be designated by the board of directors; shall render to the president and directors, whenever they request it, an account of all of his transactions as treasurer and of the financial condition of the Market; and shall have other powers and perform such other duties as may be prescribed by the board directors or the bylaws. In addition, the Treasurer shall disburse the funds of the Market in accordance with the direction and policies established by the Board of Directors.
  - (iii) Bond. If required by the board of directors, the treasurer shall give the Market a bond in the amount and with the surety or sureties specified by the board for faithful performance of the duties of his office and for restoration to the Market of all its books, papers, vouchers, money, and other property of every kind in his possession or under his control on his death, resignation, retirement, or removal from office. The premium for such surety bond shall paid by the Market.
  - (iv) Other Duties. The treasurer shall perform such other duties and have such other authority and powers as the Board of Directors may from time to time prescribe or the president may from time to time delegate.
- 8.3.4 Delegation. If any officer of the Market is absent or unable to act and no other person is authorized to act in such officer's place by the provisions of these Bylaws, the Board of Directors may from time to time delegate the powers or duties of such officer to any other officer or any director or any other person it may select.

#### 8.4 Standard of Conduct for Officers.

- 8.4.1 General Standards of Conduct. An officer of the Market with discretionary authority shall discharge his duties under that authority in good faith; with the care an ordinarily prudent person in a like position would exercise under similar circumstances, and in the manner the officer reasonably believes to be in the best interests of the Market.
- 8.4.2 Reliance on Third Party Information. In discharging his or her duties, an officer is entitled to rely on information, opinions, reports, or statements, including financial statements and other financial data, if prepared or presented by one or more officers or employees of the Market who the officer reasonably believes to be reliable and competent in the matters presented or legal counsel, public accountants, or other persons as to matters the officer reasonably believes are within the person's professional or expert competence.
- 8.4.3 Limitation based on Actual Knowledge. An officer is not acting in good faith if the officer has knowledge concerning the matter in question that makes reliance otherwise permitted by Article 8.4.2 unwarranted.
- 8.4.4 Officer Not Liable. An officer is not liable to the Market or other person for any action taken or not taken as an officer, if the officer acted in compliance with this Article 8.4.

### 8.5 Resignation and Removal of Officers.

- 8.5.1 Resignation. An officer may resign at any time by delivering notice to the Market. The resignation is effective when the notice is received unless the notice specifies a future effective date. If a resignation is made effective at a future date and the Market accepts the future effective date, the board of directors may fill the pending vacancy before the effective date provided; however, that the successor does not take office until the effective date.
- 8.5.2 Removal. The board by majority vote may remove an officer at any time with or without cause. The board shall remove an officer for a violation of the Market's by-laws, as set forth herein, or the articles of incorporation. The board shall remove an officer for failure to meet the standard of conduct as set forth in Section 33-31-842 of the South Carolina Nonprofit Corporation Act of 1994, as amended.
- 8.6 Vacancies. If there exists a vacancy in one or more of the officer positions:
  - 8.6.1 Vacancy in the Office of President. If the President dies, resigns or becomes otherwise disqualified, the Vice President, if any, shall become President for the balance of the unexpired term. If there is no Vice President, the Board shall appoint a Board Member to serve as interim President for the balance of the unexpired term. If such tenure is less than six months, the new President may be reelected to serve a full one-year term.
  - 8.6.2 Other Officer Vacancies. The Board of Directors shall fill any vacancy of the office of Secretary, Treasurer or any other officer positions by the election of another such officer receiving a majority of the votes of the directors entitled to vote.

#### **ARTICLE IX**

#### **Other Staff**

As the Market grows in its needs and resources, other staff may be appointed by the president pursuant to the approval of the board of directors. The duties and responsibilities of these staff shall be set forth by the board of directors with the presidents input. They may be removed by the president with or without cause.

# ARTICLE X

#### **Committees**

10.1 <u>Committees, Councils, Task Forces and Advisory Groups</u>. As the Market grows in its needs and resources, the Board of Directors may establish from time to time one or more standing or special committees, councils, task

forces and/or advisory groups. The Board of Directors of the Market, with the input of the President, may establish such committees, councils, task forces and advisory groups as may be necessary to accomplish the mission and purpose of the Market. Members of such committees, councils, task forces and advisory groups may Board members, non Board members, and others dedicated to the mission and purposes of the Market.

10.2 <u>Policies and Procedures.</u> Committees and other groups duly convened under these bylaws will be given duties, responsibilities, terms and rules for operating at the time they are established by the Board of Directors. All such entities will be governed by the policies and procedures applicable to the Board itself as stated within these bylaws.

#### **Article XI**

#### **Manner of Acting**

The act of a majority of the Directors, Committee members, Councils or other groups duly established by the Market, at a duly called meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of that body, unless the act of a greater number is required by law, the Articles of Incorporation of the Market, or these bylaws.

#### **ARTICLE XII**

# **Distributions and Disbursements**

- 12.1 <u>Distributions and Disbursements</u>. The Board of Directors, not less frequently than annually, shall (a) determine all distributions to be made from net income and principal of the Market pursuant to provisions of the Articles of Incorporation and these bylaws; (b) make, or authorize and direct the payments to organizations or persons to whom payments are to be made, in such amounts and at such times as it deems necessary to assure use for the charitable purposes and in the manner intended; and (c) determine all disbursements to be made for administrative expenses incurred by the Market and direct payments thereof.
- Manner of Acting. All such determinations shall be made by the affirmative vote of a majority of Directors present at a meeting duly called at which a quorum is present, unless otherwise expressly provided in these bylaws or by direction of the donor as a condition of the gift.

#### **ARTICLE XIII**

# **Conflicting Interest Transactions**

The Board shall adopt and enforce a Conflicts of Interest Policy.

#### **ARTICLE XIV**

### Indemnification of Board of Directors, Officers, Employees and Agents

Unless otherwise provided in the articles of incorporation and pursuant to the provisions of section 33-31-834 and Subarticle E of Title 33, Chapter 15, Article 8 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina (1976), as amended, the Board of Directors, Officers, employees and agents shall be immune from suit arising from the conduct of the affairs of the Market; provided, however, this immunity from suit shall not apply when such conduct amounts to willful, wanton, or gross negligence. Nothing is this Article shall be construed to grant immunity to the Market .The Market shall have the power to purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a director, officer, employee, or agent of the Market or who is or was serving at the request of the Market as an officer, employee, or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, or employee benefit plan, against any liability asserted against such person and incurred by such person in any such capacity or arising out of any status as such, whether or not the Market would have the power to indemnify such person against such liability under the provisions of this Article.

## **ARTICLE XV**

Books and Records, Contracts, Checks and Deposits

- 15.1 <u>Books and Records.</u> The Market shall keep correct and complete books and records of account and shall keep minutes of the proceedings of its Board of Directors; and shall keep at its registered office or principal place of business, or at the office of its transfer agent or registrar, a record of its directors, giving the names and addresses of all directors.
- 15.2 <u>Contracts.</u> The Board of Directors may authorize any officer or officers, agent or agents of the Market, in addition to the officers so authorized under these bylaws, to enter into any contract or execute and deliver any instrument in the name of and on behalf of the Market. Such authority must be in writing and may be general or confined to specific instances or purposes.
- 15.3 <u>Checks, Drafts, Notes, Etc.</u> All checks, drafts or other orders for the payment of money, notes or other evidences of indebtedness issued in the name of the Market shall be signed by such officer or officers agent or agents, of the Market and in such other manner as may from time to time be determined by resolution of the Board of Directors. In absence of such determination by the Board of Directors, such instruments shall be signed by the Treasurer and countersigned by the President of the Market.
- 15.4 <u>Deposits</u>. All funds of the Market shall be deposited from time to time to the credit of the Market in such banks, trust companies or other depositories as the Board of Directors may select.

#### **ARTICLE XVI**

#### Miscellaneous

- 16.1 <u>Construction</u>. As used herein, the neuter gender shall also denote the masculine and feminine, the masculine gender shall also denote the feminine and neuter, and the feminine gender the masculine or neuter.
- 16.2 <u>Severability.</u> If any portion of these bylaws shall be invalid or inoperative, then, so far as is reasonable and possible (a) the remainder of these bylaws shall be considered valid and operative, and (b) effect shall be given to the intent manifested by the portion held invalid or inoperative.
- 16.3 <u>Table of Contents; Headings.</u> The table of contents and headings are for organization, convenience and clarity. In interpreting these bylaws, they shall be subordinated in importance to the other written material.
- 16.4 <u>Relation to Articles of Incorporation.</u> These bylaws are subject to, and governed by, the Articles of Incorporation.
- 16.5 <u>References to Internal Revenue Code</u>. All references in these bylaws to sections of the Internal Revenue Code shall be considered references to the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as from time to time amended, to the corresponding provisions of any applicable future United State Internal Revenue Law, and to all regulations issued under such sections and provisions.

## ARTICLE XVII

# **Tax Exempt Status**

- 17.1 <u>Tax-Exempt Status</u>. The affairs of the Market at all times shall be conducted in such a manner as to assure the Market's status as an organization qualifying for exemption from taxation pursuant to Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code.
- 17.2 <u>Dissolution.</u> The Market may be dissolved and liquidated at any time by a unanimous affirmative vote of all of the Directors at a meeting of the Board of Directors duly called with notice for that purpose.
- 17.3 <u>Liquidation on Dissolution.</u> In the event of the dissolution of the Market, after paying all liabilities, the Board of Directors shall dispose of the remaining assets in accordance with the Articles of Incorporation.

# **ARTICLE XVIII**

## **Amendments**

Amendments to these Bylaws shall be made only at a regular meeting of the Board of Directors where the amendment was presented to each board member at least five (5) days prior to the meeting and three-fourth (3/4) of

the board affirmatively votes to adopt such an amendment. This is to certify that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of the Revised Bylaws of the Farmer's Market of Bluffton, Inc., a South Carolina non-profit corporation, and that such revised bylaws were duly adopted by the board of directors of said corporation on this 12th day of December, 2011.

12/12/2011 Suzanne Culp
Date Secretary